FILED  
Court of Appeals  
Division II  
State of Washington  
1/30/2023 2:16 PM

FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
1/30/2023  
BY ERIN L. LENNON  
CLERK

No. 56205-7-II

101531-3

---

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF  
WASHINGTON

---

Dr. AMELIA BESOLA, Administrator and Petitioner,

Appellant,

v.

ERIC PULA, individually and as PERSONAL  
REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE MARK L. BESOLA,  
and *ET AL.*,

Respondents.

---

**AMENDED PETITION FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW**

---

Jose F. Vera of Vera & Associates PLLC  
WSBA #25534, Attorney for Petitioners  
100 West Harrison Street, Suite 300  
Seattle, WA 98119  
(206) 793-8318  
Josevera@veraassociates.com

## I. INTRODUCTION

This *Amended Petition for Review* stems from a TEDRA action in the Estate of Mark L. Besola (PCSC Cause # 19-4-01945-2). On August 13, 2021, the trial court issued an *Order to Seal* third-party records created when a bad actor used an online legal-document provider to create a fake will more than four months after Mark Besola's death with the intent to commit fraud on the Besola Estate. The Besola Estate had been valued between \$5.5M and \$7.5M—depending various interest rates, real property values, and rates of return on investment accounts (all of which were and have been volatile over the last few years). The conspiracy to commit fraud very nearly succeeded in taking the entire estate. In fact, it would have succeeded if the on-line legal-document provider and fake will documents had not been discovered and presented to the trial court. The litigation between the various bad actors and Mark Besola's sister, Dr. Amelia Besola (Dr. Amy) rose in intensity to a cacophony—until the fever broke when the trial court found that Mark Besola's will

was a fake in the November 17, 2021, *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law*.

The online legal-document provider is FormSwift. The FormSwift documents are comprised of three document sets: (1) the testamentary documents initially created on April 19, 2019, by Ms. Robyn Peterson; (2) documents related to Ms. Robyn Peterson's financial information that she used to purchase and create the initial FormSwift documents; and (3) the final Besola Will filed in Pierce County Superior Court on May 8, 2019, which had specific paragraphs significantly revised. On August 13, 2021, the trial court sealed only the FormSwift documents created by Ms. Peterson on April 19, 2019 (a will and living will for Mark Besola).

This Appeal is about the sealing the April 19, 2019, FormSwift Documents. It is about the trial court's decision to and method of sealing of the April 19, 2019, FormSwift Documents. It is about the proper application of Washington's General Application Rule 15 and about meeting the Washington

Constitutional mandate of Article 1 Sec. 10 of Washington's Constitution. Last, it is about the victims lost in the noise of litigation—it is about two sisters and two nieces who lost millions to litigation costs from the Besola Estate and their respective families because of a fake will and a fake Estate. They nearly lost everything because of a conspiracy to commit fraud that continues to this day. The challenge for the innocent victims of this conspiracy is that the sealed FormSwift documents contain evidence probative of whether the conspiracy includes individuals previously excluded from the conspiracy and who are even now attempting to take non-probate assets from the Besola Estate. Unsealing the April 19, 2019 FormSwift documents may be the best available defense for the victims of the conspiracy to commit fraud.

Division II of the Court of Appeals denied Petitioner's *Motion for Reconsideration* in this appeal on December 29, 2022. Under RAP 13.4, Petitioner has 30 days from December 29, 2022 to file this *Petition for Review*. 30 days after December



29, 2022 falls on January 28, 2023, which is a Saturday. The first Court Day after January 28, 2023 is Monday January 30, 2023. The date on which Petitioner will file this *Petition for Review* with the Washington Court of Appeals and Supreme Court.

## **II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Petitioner, Dr. Amelia Besola, ("Dr. Amy" or "Petitioner") respectfully moves for the relief set forth below.

## **III. DECISION**

Petitioner respectfully requests this Court to accept review of the decision entered by Division II of Washington Court of Appeals on November 8, 2022 (Court of Appeals No. 56205-7-II) (the "Decision" or "Opinion"). Attached hereto as **Appendix A**.

## **IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

A general question before the Supreme Court on this *Amended Petition for Review* is whether the trial Court in this matter complied with both GA 15 (c), (e) and Article I Sec. 10 of Washington's Constitution when it sealed and kept sealed the

April 19, 2019, FormSwift documents without any reference to or application of the Ishikawa and its progeny. The specific questions are:

1. Did the trial court make the required written findings (a) detailing the interests to be protected, (b) setting forth the justification for the length of time sealing the FormSwift documents to protect the interests at issue, and (c) providing the justifying rationale for the Court's file as opposed to relying improperly on conclusory statements;
2. Did the trial court err when it failed to unseal the FormSwift documents after being presented with a stipulation of all parties to unseal the FormSwift documents per GA 15(e);
3. Did the trial court err when it failed to unseal the FormSwift documents after it entered the *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* on November 17, 2021, that found (at FF 57, 58, 59, 61, and 62)<sup>1</sup> that Ms. Robyn Peterson created

---

<sup>1</sup> These findings of facts were unchallenged and hence are verities on appeal. *In re Est. of Jones*, 12 Wn.2d 1, 8, 93 P.3d 147 (2004).

the fake FormSwift will with an intention to deceive when protecting Ms. Peterson from criminal liability based on her actions vis a vis creation of the FormSwift fake will; and

4. Did the trial court err when it sealed and kept sealed the April 19, 2019, FormSwift Documents without making written findings and taking other steps to comply with the five Ishikawa steps, which is required to ensure compliance with Article I Sec. 10 of Washington's Constitution.

## **V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The statement of the case material to this *Petition for Review* is limited. Mark Besola passed on January 1, 2019. On April 19, 2019, Ms. Robyn Peterson created the FormSwift testamentary documents at issue in this Petition. *Appendix F* at FF 57. The trial court also found that Ms. Peterson created the fake will filed with the Pierce County Superior Court on May 8, 2019, and that together with James Garrett and Eric Pula, the three of them intended to and did deceive the trial court with the fake will. *Appendix F* at FFs 58 - 62. The trial court even

specifically found that the fake will created by Ms. Peterson harmed the true beneficiaries of Mark L. Besola's Estate. *Appendix F* at FF 62.

Mr. Brandon Gunwall was removed as a party from this matter by the Court Order dismissing all claims against Mr. Gunwall dated December 4, 2020. *Appendix H (filed in PCSC Cause # 19-4-01902-9)*. The Stipulation to Unseal the April 19, 2019, FormSwift Documents signed by all parties except by Mr. Gunwall/Mr. Walk is attached hereto as *Appendix I*. See CPs 165 - 168.

Last, on August 13, 2021, the trial court signed the below Order attached hereto as *Appendix G*:

THIS MATTER, having come before the above-entitled Court by stipulation/motion of the parties to seal the following documents and their attachments:

1. Declaration of Records Custodian – Formswift

and the Court having read the files and records herein and the Court finding that sealing is justified by identified compelling privacy or safety concerns that outweigh the public interest in access to the court record, Now, Therefore,

**IT IS HEREBY ORDERED** that the above referenced documents be sealed in the court file and not be opened, except upon Order of the above-entitled Court. In the event of an application for the opening or copying of a sealed document listed above, notice shall be given to the parties or their counsel of record and a hearing shall be noted before the assigned department.

DATED this 13th day of August, 2021.

  
JUDGE BRYAN CHUSHCOFF

The trial court admitted in making its decision to keep the FormSwift documents sealed that the sealed documents could contain evidence that Ms. Peterson had committed a crime. *Appendix A* at P. 5. This appeal follows the trial court's August 13, 2021 Order to Seal when Mr. Morgan filed a Motion for Discretionary Review which was granted on December 7, 2021. *See Appendix A* at P. 6. The FormSwift documents have remained sealed since August 13, 2021.

## **VI. GROUNDS FOR RELIEF REQUESTED**

Appellate courts review a trial court's decision to seal or unseal records for abuse of discretion. *Rufer v. Abbot Labs*, 154

Wash.2d 530, 540, 114 P.3d 1182 (2005). But where the trial court applied an incorrect legal rule, the appellate court remands to the trial court to apply the correct rule. *State v. Waldon*, 148 Wash.App. 952, 957, 202 P.3d 325 (2009).

The threshold question here is whether the trial court and parties complied with the requirements of General Rule 15 because this rule sets forth the proceeds for sealing and unsealing documents. See GR 15 (c) and (e). However, assessing the sealing and efforts to unseal a document or court record does not end with GR 15 because compliance with GR 15 alone does not meet the constitutional benchmark required by Article I, Section 10 of Washington's Constitution. *Waldon*, 148 Wash.App. at 962. The question of whether the sealing or unsealing of a court record is constitutional is determined under the 5-step framework outlined in *Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa*, 97 Wash.2d 30, 37-39, 640 P.2d 716 (1982). *Waldon*, 148 Wash. at 967. Thus, a court must analyze the sealing or efforts to unseal a court record under both GR 15 and the five-step Ishikawa framework to

determine if a court record was properly sealed or was properly kept sealed in response to a parties' efforts to unseal the court record.

The Ishikawa 5-step outline is as follows:

1. The first factor requires that the proponent of sealing the court record must establish that the court record at issue presents a serious and imminent threat to some other interest;
2. The second factor requires that anyone present when the motion related to sealing the record is made be given an opportunity to object to the sealing of the court record, and the proponent of sealing the record must state the grounds for sealing the court record with reasonable specificity;
3. The third Ishikawa factor requires that the court impose the "least restrictive means" necessary to protect the threatened interest;<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Note: GR 15 requires that the court record at issue not be sealed when redaction would adequately resolve the issue.

4. The fourth Ishikawa factor requires the court to weigh the competing interests of the proponent for sealing the court record at issue and of the public, consider the suggested alternatives, and articulate its findings and conclusions as specifically as possible; and
5. The fifth Ishikawa factor specifies that the order sealing the court record must be no broader in its application or duration than necessary to serve its purpose with the order applying for a specific time period with a burden on the proponent to come before the court at a time specified to justify continued sealing. *Waldon*, 148 Wash. at 962-4.

The Ishikawa factors are central to the analysis of whether a court record is sealed or kept sealed that prior to entering an order authorizing the sealing of documents, the trial court must make, in writing, the findings required by the five-factor *Ishikawa* test set forth above. *State v. Waldon*, 148 Wn. App. 952, 964, 202 P.3d 325, 332 (2009) (citing *Wash. Court Rules Ann.* GR 15 cmt. at 26 (2d ed.2006–07)). In fact, GR 15 and Ishikawa must



be read together when ruling on a motion to seal or redact court records. *State v. Waldon*, 148 Wn. App. 952, 967, 202 P.3d 325, 333 (2009). In *State v. Richardson* the Court held that ““compelling circumstances” for unsealing exist when the proponent of continued sealing fails to overcome the presumption of openness under the five-factor Ishikawa analysis. In either case, the trial court must apply the factors and enter findings supporting the decision.” 177 Wn.2d 351, 363, 302 P.3d 156, 161 (2013). The trial court’s written findings should be as specific as possible rather than conclusory. *Dreiling v. Jain*, 93 P.3d 861, 869, 151 Wash.2d 900 (2004).

Under the above, the issue before this Court will be whether the trial court’s August 13, 2021 Order sealing the April 19, 2019, FormSwift documents and continued sealing of such court records was and remains justified under Ishikawa and GR 15. This Court will find that the trial court’s sealing of the April 19, 2019 FormSwift documents fails to meet the requirements of

GR 15 and of the Ishikawa factors as required by Article I, Section 10 of Washington's Constitution.

With respect to GR 15, the August 13, 2021 Order fails, on the face of the Order, to state the interest to be protected, fails to consider if redaction would be equally as effective at protecting Ms. Peterson's interest as sealing the Order; and fails to address if continued sealing of the Order would protect Ms. Peterson's interests even after the trial court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on November 17, 2021. If the August 13, 2021 Order to Seal failed to meet the requirements of GR 15, then it most certainly failed to meet muster under the Ishikawa factors.

The trial court's August 13, 2021 Order to Seal fails to meet the test set forth by the Ishikawa factors. First, the trial court's written findings is just a conclusory statement taken from the text of GR 15. The written findings fail to state the trial court's concern about Ms. Peterson's potential for criminal liability and fails to state how redacting the FormSwift

documents will not work at least as well as sealing the FormSwift documents. The trial court's failure even to consider redacting the FormSwift documents is fatal under GR 15 to the trial court's August 13, 2021 Order to Seal—as is the trial court's failure to make the required specific written findings.

It is also fatal to the trial court's Order to Seal under the Ishikawa factors that the Order fails to evidence any effort to make the Order to Seal no broader than necessary to serve its purpose of protecting Ms. Peterson from criminal liability. And finally, not once on the face of the Order to Seal does the trial court consider or even address the harm to Mark Besola's true beneficiaries, which it identified in its *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law*.

Worse still, Division II of the Court of Appeals seemed not to apply the Ishikawa factors to its assessment of whether the trial court's Order to Seal met the requirements of both GR 15 and Article I, Section 10 of Washington's Constitution. Assessing the trial court's Order to Seal only under the GR 15

standard is to apply the wrong rule for assessing whether the Order to Seal was properly applied here. As such, this matter needs to be remanded to trial court so that it may assess if its Order to Seal is proper under both GR 15 and the Ishikawa Factors.

Last, under GR 15(e)(3), we now know that Mr. Brandon Gunwall was no longer a party to the TEDRA matter—at least according to the December 4, 2020 *Order Awarding Attorneys’ Fees and Directing Entry of Final Judgment* in the matter of PCSC Cause # 19-4-01902-9 (consolidated with PCSC Cause # 19-4-01945-2). *Appendix H*. Hence, we also now know that all parties to the matter in August 2021 signed the August 13, 2021, *Stipulation to Unseal* the FormSwift documents. *Appendix I*. In light of these two documents, GR 15 (e)(3) applies to the question of whether to unseal the FormSwift Documents. This provision of GR 15 states: “A sealed court record in a civil case shall be ordered unsealed only upon stipulation of all parties . . .” In light of **Appendixes H and I**, this Court should to remand

this matter to the trial court to have it unseal the FormSwift documents.

Please recall that from the perspective of the true Mark Besola Estate beneficiaries, they are seeking to have these records unsealed to present evidence that the conspiracy to commit fraud includes Mr. Brandon Gunwall and maybe others. This is vital because Mr. Gunwall will soon take the Fidelity account funds and litigation to take ownership of Mark Besola's life insurance proceeds is just starting discovery in the Federal District Court for the Western District of Washington.

## **VII. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED**

Review of this Petition should be accepted because Article 1, Section 10 of Washington's Constitution is central to this appeal. Moreover, it appears that the trial court and Division II both failed to assess the August 13, 2021 *Order to Seal* the FormSwift documents under the Ishikawa Factors as required to determine if the order meets the requirements of Washington's Constitution. Instead, the appellate decision from Division II