FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/2/2023 11:47 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101531-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DR. AMELIA BESOLA, Administrator and Petitioner,

Appellant,

v.

ERIC PULA, individually and as PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE MARK L. BESOLA, et al.,

Respondents.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II No. 56205-7-II

ANSWER TO AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Quentin Wildsmith, WSBA #25644 Attorneys for Julia Besola-Robinson LASHER HOLZAPFEL SPERRY & EBBERSON PLLC 601 Union St., Suite 2600 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 624-1230

III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV.	ARGUMENT5
with	The Decisions by the Trial and Appellate Courts Conflict a Established Constitutional Guarantees and Supreme Court be Law
	The Underlying Decisions Improperly Burdened the conent of Open Court
Cou	Without Sufficient Explanation by the Trial Court, This art Has No Means by Which to Examine the Continuing ision to Seal
Acc	Substantial Public Interest in Fraud and Forgery omplished Through Downloadable Estate Planning numents Over the Internet
VI.	CONCLUSION17

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Down att v. Smith Davids, Down an Duitton, DS 176 Wn 2d 202
Bennett v. Smith Bundy Berman Britton, PS, 176 Wn.2d 303,
291 P.3d 886 (2013)
City of Tacoma v. Fiberchem, Inc., 44 Wn. App. 538, 722 P.2d
1357 (1986)
(1979)14
Federated Publications, Inc. v. Kurtz, 94 Wn.2d 51, 615 P.2d
440 (1980)
440 (1980)
Cal. Rptr.3d 629 (2010)2
O'Neill v. Anthony Di Re, D.D.S., P.S., 13 Wn. App. 2d 1006
(2020)
(2020)
(2005)
Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa, 97 Wn.2d 30, 640 P.2d 716
(1982)passim
State v. Duckett, 141 Wn. App. 797, 173 P.3d 948 (2007) 6
* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *
State v. Parvin, 184 Wn.2d 741, 364 P.3d 94 (2015)
State v. Richardson, 177 Wn.2d 351, 302 P.3d 156 (2013) 7
State v. Waldon, 148 Wn. App. 952, 202 P.3d 325 (2009) 7, 10
RULES
GR 15
GR 15(c)(2)
$CR_{15}(6)(2)$ 0
GR 15(c)(3)
GR 15(e)
GR 31(a)5
OTHER AUTHORITIES

Article I, Section 10 of the Washington State Constitution. 5, 13

I. IDENTIFICATION OF RESPONDENT

Respondent Julia Besola-Robinson ("Julia") requests that this Court grant the Amended Petition for Review.

II. INTRODUCTION

Julia agrees with the Petitioner that the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion in *Matter of Estate of Besola, Amelia Besola v. Eric Pula, et al*, 24 Wn.App.2d 1022, satisfies the criteria for acceptance of review. First, the opinion conflicts with the protections of the Washington Constitution and established Washington Supreme Court authority concerning open court proceedings and sealing of court records under GR 15 and *Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa*, 97 Wn.2d 30, 640 P.2d 716 (1982).

Second, the opinion involves issues of substantial public interest because the FormSwift documents that have been sealed from public view were prepared for illegal purposes utilizing a widely available tool in the commercial estate planning industry, and thus this Court's resolution of the issues will impact the Washington public and consumers who utilize these online

resources.

This case raises the unique question of whether estate planning documents – created on-line and utilized by a group of conspirators to defraud Dr. Mark Besola and his sisters – may be kept secret from Mark's family and the public without explanation and when no party requests that the records remain sealed. This Court should reverse the trial court's denial of the Petitioner's motion to unseal. Moreover, the Court should make clear that open court dockets play a unique and significant role in assuring public oversight of the judicial branch.

Julia urges the Court to recognize that sealed court records pose a significant threat to the public's ability to access court proceedings and records. The trial court's order is an improper attempt "to treat sealing orders as if they sealed caskets rather than presumptively open court records." *In re Marriage of Nicholas*, 186 Cal. App. 4th 1566, 1574, 113 Cal. Rptr.3d 629 (2010). Further, the trial court's failure to make the findings required by *Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa*, 97 Wn.2d 30, 36, 640

P.2d 716 (1982) and General Rule 15 requires reversal. Moreover, in light of the widespread and ever-growing use of online estate planning services, the public has a compelling interest in the availability of records related to fraud perpetrated through such services.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Julia incorporates the Petitioner's Statement of the Case. In addition, it is material to this review to understand the ongoing significance of the sealed records to the investigation into the fraud perpetrated on the estate, and to defend against further efforts by the alleged conspirators to further defraud Mark Besola and his family.

In 2018, Mark Besola was wheelchair bound with significant health problems and, while becoming increasingly isolated from his only family (his sisters Julia and the Petitioner), he became surrounded by people who moved into his home and who relied on him for their own housing and other financial needs. *Petitioner's Amended Petition for Supreme Court Review*,

Appendix F, FF 2-4, 7, 8. These people living at Mark's home had access to Mark's electronic devices and financial information throughout 2018 and early 2019. *Id.*, FF 13.

The Court of Appeals' opinion recognized the existence of key facts that tied these people together to the eventual fraud perpetrated on Mark:

Before Mark's death, Brandon Gunwall, Eric Pula, and Kelly McGraw had been living on Mark's property at Lake Tapps. Mark, who "had significant health problems," died unexpectedly on January 1, 2019. Clerk's Papers (CP) at 187. For several months following Mark's death Pula, Gunwall, McGraw, and others continued to occupy Mark's property.

Two days after Mark's death, Besola was appointed as the personal representative of Mark's estate. In late April, Besola evicted Gunwall, Pula, McGraw, and others from Mark's property.

COA Opinion, p. 2.

Prior to the discovery of the FormSwift evidence, two of the people (Brandon Gunwall and Kelly McGraw) were dismissed from the litigation. Yet even now, appeals involving the claims against Gunwall and McGraw are ongoing, and there is a federal lawsuit brought against Gunwall relating to Mark's non-probate assets that were electronically transferred to Gunwall in 2018.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Decisions by the Trial and Appellate Courts Conflict with Established Constitutional Guarantees and Supreme Court Case Law.

It is the policy of the courts to facilitate access to court records as provided by Article I, Section 10 of the Washington State Constitution. GR 31(a). Put differently, it is always to be assumed that court records will be open to the public: "In determining whether court records may be sealed from public disclosure, we start with the presumption of openness." Rufer v. Abbott Laboratories, 154 Wn.2d 530, 540, 114 P.3d 1182 (2005). Under this presumption, the proponent seeking to seal a court record "has the burden of demonstrating the need to do so." *Id.* And protecting the openness of court records even further, even where no party opposes a closure, "the trial court has an 'independent obligation to safeguard the open administration of justice. Article 1, Section 10 is mandatory." Hundtofte v. Encarnacion, 169 Wn. App. 498, 508, 280 P.3d 513 (2012)

(quoting State v. Duckett, 141 Wn. App. 797, 804, 173 P.3d 948 (2007)), aff'd, 181 Wn.2d 1, 330 P.3d 168 (2014). O'Neill v. Anthony Di Re, D.D.S., P.S., 13 Wn. App. 2d 1006 (2020).

While it is presumed that court records will be made open and available for public inspection, court records may be sealed "to protect other significant and fundamental rights." *Rufer v. Abbott Laboratories*, 154 Wn.2d at 540 (quoting *Dreiling v. Jain*, 151 Wn.2d 900, 909, 93 P.3d 861 (2004)). The party wishing to keep a record sealed usually has the burden of demonstrating the need to do so. *Id.* The procedure for sealing of court records is provided by GR 15.

To balance the constitutional requirement of the open administration of justice against potentially conflicting rights, the Supreme Court has directed courts to apply the five *Ishikawa* factors. *Rufer* at 544,114 P.3d 1182 (citing *Dreiling*, 151 Wn.2d at 908). *Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa*, 97 Wn.2d 30, 36, 640 P.2d 716 (1982) "requires a showing that is more specific, concrete, certain, and definite than" the "compelling privacy or safety

concerns" required by GR 15. *State v. Waldon*, 148 Wn. App. 952, 962-63, 202 P.3d 325 (2009). The five *Ishikawa* factors are: (1) the proponent of closure must show need that amounts to a "serious and imminent threat" to a right; (2) anyone present during the motion must be given an opportunity to object; (3) the closure must be the least restrictive means available for protecting the threatened interests; (4) the court must weigh the competing interests of the proponent of closure and the public; and (5) the order must be no broader in its application or duration than necessary to serve its purpose. *State v. Parvin*, 184 Wn.2d 741, 765-66, 364 P.3d 94 (2015).

However, even if these standards are met, the proponent of sealing maintains an ongoing burden to show that sealing remains necessary and effective to protect the interests threatened under the current circumstances and must continue to justify sealing. *State v. Richardson*, 177 Wn.2d 351, 361-62, 302 P.3d 156 (2013) (citing *Ishikawa*, 97 Wn.2d at 39, emphasis added). A file will be unsealed if the proponent of continued

sealing can no longer overcome the presumption of openness under the five-factor *Ishikawa* analysis. *Id.; See also* GR 15(e)(2). In other words, if circumstances change and reasons for sealing no longer outweigh the public interest in openness, the file *must* be unsealed.

GR 15 also demonstrates the presumption that open court records are favored over sealed records. GR 15(c)(2) states that agreement of the parties alone does not constitute a sufficient basis to seal. GR 15(c)(3) dictates that a court record shall not be sealed if redaction will adequately resolve the issues before the court.

Here, the trial court' sealing order is erroneous on multiple fronts. First, it fails entirely to address the five *Ishikawa* factors. Second, it fails to explain why sealing rather than redaction is necessary as required by GR 1 (c)(3). Third, it fails to identify either the proponent of the sealing or the party who has compelling privacy or safety concerns that outweigh the public interest. All of these failures made it impossible for the Court of

Appeals to properly review the actions of the trial court to ensure that justice was done.

B. The Underlying Decisions Improperly Burdened the Proponent of Open Court Records.

At the September 3, 2021 hearing, the trial court asked Mr. Morgan (counsel for Petitioner) to establish why he needed access to the sealed records. COA opinion, p. 4. The trial court also engaged Mr. Shillito (counsel for Petitioner) in a debate about why he needed the records for his case in chief in the Will contest. *Id.* at 5. Thus, the trial court erroneously put the burden on parties seeking open disclosure of records, rather than on anyone seeking to seal the records from public view. Uniquely, the proponent of sealing here was the trial court itself. Without adequate review, how do parties or the public gain access to sealed documents if the proponent of sealing was the Court itself? If the proper standard is that one who wants to seal a court record must carry the burden of proof, how do parties and the public require the Court to show proof?

Importantly, the fifth *Ishikawa* factor requires that any sealing order "shall apply for a specific time period with a burden on the proponent to come before the court at a time specified to justify continued sealing." State v. Waldon, 148 Wn. App. 952, 963-64, 202 P.3d 325 (2009), quoting Federated Publications, Inc. v. Kurtz, 94 Wn.2d 51, 62-63, 615 P.2d 440 (1980). This is consistent with Ishikawa's overarching rule that courts are presumptively open and that any closure or sealing must be justified by "the parties seeking to infringe the public's right" to open justice. *Ishikawa*, 97 Wn.2d at 37-38. Thus, if GR 15(e) is construed, as it was here by the trial court, to require the proponent of unsealing records to prove a particular need for openness, it conflicts with *Ishikawa'* requirement that continued sealing must be justified by the proponent of sealing.

Here the trial court sealed the records under the pretext that it was protecting a non-party (Robyn Peterson) from possible criminal charges. The Court of Appeals never addressed whether this was an appropriate basis for continued sealing, nor reevaluated when a new request was made to unseal. The Court of Appeals instead held:

Additionally, Besola cites no authority establishing that GR 15(e)(3) requires the trial court to grant a motion to unseal based solely on a stipulation when the trial court sealed the record to protect a nonparty, Peterson, who was not a party to the stipulation. And when a party does not cite any authority to support an argument, we assume there is none. *Kanam v. Kmet*, 21 Wn. App. 2d 902, 911, 508 93 1071 (2022).

COA opinion, p. 10.

At the conclusion of the trial in the underlying case, the trial court found that Robyn Peterson created the fake will (possibly with the assistance of others), that she created the fake will with an intention to deceive, that her testimony was not credible, and that the fake will was the result of fraudulent conduct. *Amended Petition for Supreme Court Review*, Appendix F, FF 57-59, COL 3. Yet despite these findings involving Robyn Peterson, the trial court erroneously now withholds access to the very records that are part of the proof supporting the findings and conclusions that the court has already issued.

Robyn Peterson was never a "party" to the original

proceedings that resulted in these records being sealed, and yet the trial court required the proponents of open access to show why the records should be unsealed.

Even if Peterson initially had valid privacy concerns, once the trial court made its findings after trial, the public's constitutional interest in the open administration of justice outweighs Peterson's privacy concerns. There is no evidence in the record of imminent criminal proceedings against Peterson to support continued sealing. *See Hundtofte v. Encarnacion*, 181 Wn.2d 1, 330 P.3d 168 (2014). A sealing order must actually be "effective in protecting the interests threatened." *Id.* at 8 (quoting *Federated Publications, Inc. v. Kurtz*, 94 Wn.2d. 51, 62, 615 P.2d 440 (1980)).

Here, the trial court already made findings and conclusions that Robyn Peterson, and possibly others, had committed fraud against the Estate and had in fact deceived the court itself. In sum, these findings describe the bad acts of Peterson which the sealing order was designed to hide. The trial court findings are

part of the court record, and as such can be read by anyone. Continued sealing of the records does not meet the effectiveness test. It serves absolutely no purpose other than to promote mistrust of the courts by preventing a complete understanding of how the fraud was committed and who was involved in the fraud (*i.e.*, the possible other parties).

Accordingly, this Court should hold pursuant to *Ishikawa*, and the Court's independent duty to enforce Article I, Section 10, that the unsealing motion was improperly denied and that the trial court improperly burdened the proponents of open records with proving to the court why secrecy should not continue.

C. Without Sufficient Explanation by the Trial Court, This Court Has No Means by Which to Examine the Continuing Decision to Seal.

The opinion of the Court of Appeals does not address the failure of the trial court to explain its continued refusal to unseal the FormSwift records. A trial court's findings must be sufficiently specific to allow a reviewing court to engage in meaningful review. *Bennett v. Smith Bundy Berman Britton, PS*,

176 Wn.2d 303, 314, 291 P.3d 886 (2013). To be sufficient, the findings and conclusions should allow the reviewing court to determine what material issues the trial court decided, and its decision-making process. City of Tacoma v. Fiberchem, Inc., 44 Wn. App. 538, 541, 722 P.2d 1357 (1986) (citing *Daughtry v. Jet* Aeration Co., 91 Wn.2d 704, 707, 592 P.2d 631 (1979)). There is no indication that the trial court sealed the records after considering the criteria articulated in *Ishikawa*. In fact, it appears the trial court applied no standard at all, relying solely on the previously entered protective order and the parties' stipulation. Under our precedent, this was improper. See Dreiling, 151 Wn.2d at 917, 93 P.3d 861 ("When third parties move to intervene, the court may not stand on its previous [protective] order."); see also Rufer, 154 Wn.2d at 550, 114 P.3d 1182 (explaining that parties may file records under seal pursuant to the terms of a protective order, but the court should open such records upon motion "unless the party wishing to keep them sealed demonstrates an overriding interest"). Because the trial court reached its decision without applying the proper legal standard, this Court should remand to the trial court to apply the correct rule and to determine whether the FormSwift records should be made public under the *Ishikawa* test.

D. Substantial Public Interest in Fraud and Forgery Accomplished Through Downloadable Estate Planning Documents Over the Internet.

During the last tragic year of Mark Besola's life he was in terrible physical health, was using a wheelchair, and was dependent on the people that had moved into his home. During that same year, the beneficiary designation for his financial accounts was changed using an on-line system (*i.e.*, no signatures or physical proof that Mark approved), resulting in house occupant Brandon Gunwall becoming his beneficiary, replacing Mark's family member as beneficiary. After Mark's death, house occupants Eric Pula and James Garrett, along with Robyn Peterson and likely others, used an on-line estate planning website (FormSwift.com) to create a fake will that very nearly was successful in stealing all of Mark's estate from his true

beneficiaries.

Abuse of vulnerable and elderly people through schemes using the internet and on-line resources is running rampant in our state and country. The Washington Attorney General has developed specific services and programs to help protect against this type of fraud due to the ever-increasing volume of scams. See https://www.atg.wa.gov/senior-fraud. Concerns about the use of on-line estate planning prompted the American Bar Association Section of Real Property Trust & Estate Law to designate a Task Force to evaluate the use of DIY methods in estate planning. See https://www.americanbar.org/groups/real property trust estate /resources/estate planning/diy estate planning/

The fake will in the present case that was created using the online FormSwift templates was particularly convincing. The trial court initially believed the will to be valid, in part because it included sophisticated and detailed sections such as "Digital Executor" and "Pet Care Directive".

This case presents a real-life example of an internet based fraud and forgery scheme that very nearly succeeded in stealing millions of dollars. The sealed records contain documents used in this scheme. Washington consumers and the public have an overriding interest in examining and understanding how such schemes occur, which will help prevent the commission of similar fraud in the future.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Julia respectfully requests that the Supreme Court grant Petitioner's Amended Petition for Review.